
COMING EVENTS AT  

LOBRANO HOUSE 

 

The monthly luncheon meeting 

will be held on Thursday, Janu-

ary 15, 2015, at noon at the Kate 

Lobrano House.  Guest speaker 

for the program will be Jimmie 

Hoda, who will speak on the 

rise and fall of Kiln, MS, and 

the timber industry. Reserva-

tions are required  and may be 

made by calling 467-4090.  Re-

spectfully we must insist that 

you please call by noon on 

Wednesday, January 14, 2015, 
to make your reservation, to 

help us plan seating which is 

limited to forty-eight people, 

and to apprise us of the number 

for whom to prepare.  The price 

of the lunch is $10.00. 
 

 

January 2015 
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Belle Fontaine, Old Maps, 

and the St. Roch Springs 

 

By 

Russell B. Guerin 

 
 Certain old maps of the 

coastal area seem to show a “Belle 

Fontaine” near the Bay of St. Lou-

is.  Furthermore, it makes sense 

that it was located near the Indian 

mound near the foot of the High-

way 90 bridge.  The location of a 

fresh water spring surely would 

have had great importance in the 

choice of the site for a settlement 

by our Native American forerun-

ners. 

 At the outset, I should state 

plainly that this is not indisputable.  

I believe my good friend Marco 

Giardino has long held that these old 

maps place the location near Bookter 

Street in Bay Saint Louis.  His rea-

soning is partly based on the topog-

raphy of the area.  In addition, he 

points out that other belle fontaines 

are noted in different areas on early 

coastal maps. 

 Even before the settlement 

of the area by French and Canadians, 

an Indian midden was built near the 

site favored in this article.  It is be-

lieved by archaeologists who have 

studied the area that many years ago 

there existed around the mound an 

entire village of a prehistoric culture.  

A picturesque mound can be ob-

served from the beach road, looking 

just south of the Breath property at 

www.hancockcountyhistoricalsociety.com 

MEMBERSHIP FEES 
 

 The 2015 Membership Drive is 

on!  It’s time for current members to 

renew their memberships in the His-

torical Society and to encourage 

family and friends to join us too.  

The price of membership is twenty-

five ($25) per year.  If your mem-

bership is due, your address label 

will read “Time to renew your mem-

bership.” Please mail your renewal 

checks to Hancock County Histori-

cal Society, P. O. Box 3356, Bay St. 

Louis, MS 39521. 

St. Roch Springs 

Bay Saint Louis, MS 



de St. Louis.”  A careful reading 

shows that the “little Rigolets” was 

not the main connection between 

Lakes Pontchartrain and Borgne 

that today we call the Rigolets, but 

the mouth of the Pearl River, 

“whose water is very good to 

drink.” 

 

1857 Map of Shieldsboro 

 
 An important map was add-

ed to the collection at the Hancock 

County Historical Society some 

time ago by Charles Gray,  which 

may be viewed at the Lobrano 

House.  This map, a wonderfully 

detailed image of the Bay of St. 

Louis and Shieldsboro Harbor, was 

commissioned by the United States 

government.  From this source, a 

network of canals and natural drain-

age streams seem to empty into the 

Mississippi Sound at the same loca-

tion as above.  The delineation of 

marshes offers a picture of the land-

scape as nature would have provid-

ed it before man made changes. 

 A very thin line, apparently 

representing natural drainage, runs 

from a marsh area behind the pre-

sent site of the yacht harbor, under-

neath present Highway 90, and 

splits at a point just further south.  

A roadway is drawn to both sides of 

the waterway, the whole being 

shown as being perhaps a quarter 

mile from the beach. 

 The important thing, if all 

this guesswork is accurate, is that 

the waterway is traced, serpentine, 

to the immediate west of the Indian 

mound. 

More Maps 

 
 The society also possesses 

some highly accurate maps from the 

Sanborn Map Company.  Two of 

these are particularly significant, 

one dated 1904 and the other, 1917.  

The first of these shows that by 

1904 ten artesian wells were being 
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LOBRANO HOUSE  

HOURS 

 

MONDAY   —  FRIDAY        
10:00AM  —  3:00PM 

Closed:  12:00—1:00 (lunch) 

MISSION STATEMENT 
 

“TO PRESERVE THE GENERAL 

AND ARCHITECTURAL HISTORY 

OF HANCOCK COUNTY AND TO 

PRESERVE THE KATE LOBRANO 

HOUSE AND COLLECTIONS 

THEREIN; TO RESEARCH AND IN-

TERPRET LIFE IN HANCOCK 

COUNTY; AND TO ENCOURAGE 

AN APPRECIATION OF AND IN-

TEREST IN HISTORICAL PRESER-

VATION.” 
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616 North Beach Blvd.  It makes 

sense that the tribe would have 

lived near a source of fresh water. 

 There is also written histo-

ry.  André Pénicaut in his Fleur de 

Lys and Calumet, a copy of which 

is in the Lobrano House, seems to 

have confirmed the presence of 

such a natural flow of water near 

the spot that eventually became Bay 

St. Louis.  Having travelled with 

Iberville and Bienville from the 

beginning of their explorations, he 

recorded that they “slept at the en-

trance of the bay, close by a spring 

of fresh water that flows down from 

the mountains and that nowadays is 

called La Belle Fontaine.” 

 It is expected that a reader 

may wonder about Pénicaut’s 

“mountains,” but a good guess is 

that he simply meant higher land 

and that the water came down by 

gravity flow.   

 A footnote in Pénicaut’s 

history by editor Richebourg Gail-

lard McWilliams gives the meaning 

of the word fontaine to be a “small 

creek or spring” and refers to 

D’Anville’s “Carte de la Louisi-

ane.”  The historical society’s map 

book, Charting Louisiana, Five 

Hundred Years of Maps, plate 24, 

contains a copy of D’Anville’s 

1752 map, clearly showing the lo-

cation of “Fontaine” at the western 

side of the bay.  Another map indi-

cates the same placement and uses 

the phrase “Belle Fontaine.” 

 McWilliams points out that 

there are other “belle fontaines” at 

Pascagoula and Mobile and ex-

presses doubt about the Bay St. 

Louis location.  However, in view 

of Pénicaut’s detailed description of 

the geography of the area, it is diffi-

cult for me to have any second 

thoughts.  What he wrote was as 

follows:  “The next day leaving Isle

-aux-Pois, we passed through some 

little Rigolets, which end up at the 

sea three leagues away, near Baye 



cal St. Roch Mineral Spring.  One is 

an old photo of three young ladies 

and a gentleman visiting St. Roch 

Mineral Spring.  Sent by society 

member Katherine Ohman, the cap-

tion identifies the location as 

“Second Street, behind the Breath 

property, believed to have been 

where the Sherwood Heights con-

dos were built.” 

 The gentleman in the photo 

is identified as Ernest Leonhard, 

and the ladies are possibly “Totsie 

and Josie” with Missy Breath Al-

tese.  Behind them is a small board-

and-batten building with a shingled 

roof and a hinged door.  Above is a 

sign, saying in large, clearly legible 

letters, “SAINT ROCH MINERAL 

SPRING.”   

 The building is larger than 

the usual outhouse of the time and 

may well have been a shelter to pre-

vent the spring from freezing in 

cold weather.  In any event, we now 

have serious evidence that there was 

indeed a natural spring, a veritable 

Bell Fontaine, with waters possibly 

flowing down from distant, higher 

land. 
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utilized to provide water flowing 

“along Front Street, Main, Union, 

and Washington for domestic pur-

poses only.” 

 The second clearly points to 

the location of a particular artesian 

well as being just off the east-west 

boundary of the von Gohren proper-

ty.  Once more, the evidence is 

bringing us close to the geograph-

ical area of what we believe to have 

been our Belle Fontaine. 

  Dr. Ludvic Herman von 

Gohren, according to Along the 

Gulf, had a beautiful estate named 

“Villa Quisiana.”  It was a health 

resort “situated on the front street a 

short pleasant drive or walk from 

the station near the entrance to the 

Bay.”  It was said that the resort 

offered “Hydro and Electro Thera-

peutic treatment….There [was] also 

connected with the Villa, a system 

of baths of almost every descrip-

tion, medicated and mineral water 

baths, electric and shower baths, 

&c….” 

 One may be intrigued to 

think of electric baths, but what is 

certain is that Dr. von Gohren and 

his clients made great use of water.  

A large source had to be present; 

moreover, it was said to be mineral 

water.   

 Years later, the main house 

passed into the possession of the 

Perkins family.  It no longer exists, 

however, because it had to be de-

molished for the building of the 

highway leading to the new Bay of 

St. Louis bridge in the early 1950s. 

 

St. Roch Spring 
 

 The image of a fountain 

suggests a natural spring.  While it 

is surely possible that our natural 

water source was more a rivulet 

draining fresh water from far away, 

a spring was suggested many years 

ago by way of a postcard, one of 

those colorful souvenir-type pieces 

meant for easy mailing.  A photo of 

this postcard was added to the col-

lection of photographs at the Histor-

ical Society a few years ago.  It is 

captioned, “St. Roch’s Mineral 

Spring, Bay St. Louis, Miss.”  Pic-

tured in an idyllic setting is a small, 

curving waterway with a shelter 

near its bend.  The surrounding pine 

forest seems appropriate for our 

area. 

 Though attractive, the pho-

to was more of a curiosity than it 

was an addition to our history.   In 

plain language, no one knew where 

the spring would have been located, 

not even those with long term mem-

ories.  Besides, it was accepted that 

many such old postcards were 

known to substitute other scenes for 

that which they purportedly repre-

sented. 
 

Emails and Attachments 

 
 And now, through the mag-

ic of the internet, come two items 

sent to the Society which verify that 

there was a real, existential, histori-

The gentleman 

in the photo-

graph at the left 

has been identi-

fied as Ernest 

Leonhard.  The 

two ladies 

standing have 

been tentatively 

identified as 

“Totsie” and 

“Josie” with 

Missy Breath 

Altese seated.  

Can anyone 

help with posi-

tive identifica-

tions of these 

individuals? 



 The second surprise comes 

from Murella Powell, the distin-

guished historian and genealogist, 

formerly of the Biloxi Public Li-

brary.  It consists of several adver-

tisements in New Orleans papers, 

all in the name of St. Roch Mineral 

Spring Water.  Three ads, two in the 

Item and one in the Times-Picayune 

(both New Orleans newspapers), 

were published in 1909 and identify 

the distributor as being located at 

621 Camp St. in New Orleans.  The 

ad which is more important to our 

search is dated August 9, 1906, and 

appeared in the Times-Picayune 

reads as follows:  “Yesterday was 

the anniversary of the discovery of 

St. Roch Spring, and the manager 

and some friends met and opened a 

bottle together at the headquarters in 

Magazine Street.  The spring is lo-

cated at Bay St. Louis and has prov-

en so valuable in quality that large 

capital is being interested to exploit 

the property.  The bottle had been 

kept the entire two years, and was 

still as clear as crystal, with only a 

slight precipitation of iron, which is 

one of the constituents of the wa-

ter.”  It is apparent from this an-

nouncement that the company start-

ed business in 1905. 
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 With these copies in hand, I 

made a trip to the Louisiana Room 

of the New Orleans Public Library 

to see what other information might 

be available.  Unfortunately, I found 

nothing.  I also searched online and 

could find only that a Miss Minnie 

Bowers took some pupils to the 

spring on May 21, 1905. 

 It is regrettable that we are 

unable to tell who the original own-

ers were. 

 

Remaining Question 
 

 After all is considered, was 

the St. Roch Mineral Spring the 

same as the Belle Fontaine?  A good 

many years have elapsed between 

the making of early maps showing a 

Belle Fontaine and the sale of 

spring water for eight cents per gal-

lon.  One thing is certain:  the spring 

must have pumped a great volume 

of water for a going business to be 

able to capitalize on it. 

 Over those years, there 

must have been many facts which 

might have conclusively identified 

the location of Belle Fontaine, but 

regrettably such information does 

not easily lend itself to our research.  

Time, fires, and lack of written his-

tory make such locating impossible. 

 What we do now finally 

know is that there was, in fact, such 

a spring as was given the name “St. 

Roch Mineral Spring,” and we 

know at least its general location. 

 All of that which is de-

scribed above suggests that a source 

of fresh water was located some-

where in the vicinity of the rear of 

the Breath property and possibly a 

bit more to the north where von 

Gohren’s health resort was located.  

So too was the St. Roch Spring. 

 In summary, one historical 

fact stands out, that being the site of 

the Native American settlement and 

its lovely, still-existing mound.  A 

clear reasoning dictates that those 

early people would not have found-

ed their village without close access 

to potable water.  Was the mound, 

then, near the Bell Fontaine?  We 

may never know for certain, but 

what I would like to believe is that 

site chosen by the entrepreneurs 

who made an early twentieth centu-

ry business, the location of drinking 

water on early maps, and the water 

source of a prehistoric tribe were all 

the same. 



THE HISTORIAN OF HANCOCK COUNTY Page 5 

The Installation of the 

2015 Board of Directors 

 
 The annual Christmas Tea 

with the installation of the 2015 

Board of Directors was held on 

Thursday afternoon, December 4, 

from 3:00—5:00 P. M.   at the Kate 

Lobrano House, the home of the 

Hancock County Historical Society 

at 108 Cue Street, Bay Saint Louis. 

 After a brief recap of 

ongoing projects at the society for 

the past year, Executive Director 

Charles Gray introduced the 2015 

board members and presented each 

with a certificate of office.  Serving 

on the board are John Gibson, 

president; Jim Thriffiley, first vice 

president; Christina Richardson, 

second vice president; Lana 

Noonan, secretary; Ellis Cuevas, 

publicity chairperson; Jackie Allain, 

historian; and Ames Kergosien, 

member at large. 

 Charles then introduced 

Bay Saint Louis Mayor Les 

Fillingame, who praised the society 

for its efforts to preserve the history 

and culture of Hancock County.  In 

addition, Mayor Fillingame 

applauded the efforts of the society 

to make this information readily 

accessible to the public at the 

Lobrano House and on the society 

website. 
  

Standing, L to R:  John Gibson, president; Charles Gray, Executive Director; Jim Thriffiley, first vice president; Ellis Cuevas, 

publicity.  Seated L to R:  Jackie Allain, historian; Lana Noonan, secretary; Christina Richardson, second vice president.  Not 

pictured:  Ames Kergosien, member at large. 
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NEW MEMBERS 

 
California Drawstrings/Southern 

Cotton Co. 

Bay Saint Louis, MS 

 

William Bourgeois 

Bay Saint Louis, MS 

 

Dianne and Albert Ott 

Biloxi, MS 

 

Joseph A. Stewart 

Humble, TX 

SNAPSHOTS 

FROM THE TEA 
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The Sisters:  Ten Days in Sicily 
(Sisters Series) 

By L.L. Lee 
 

A humorous, mystery novel set in  

Louisiana, post-Katrina Bay Saint  

Louis, and Sicily. 

 

Available at Bay Books, Amazon.com,  

Kindle 

 

Contact Lee3731@bellsouth.net or 

Amazon.com/author/lllee 

 

 

PLACE YOUR 

 

AD HERE. 

228-463-2124 OPEN SUNDAYS 



THE HISTORIAN OF HANCOCK COUNTY Page 8                   

 

  
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

READ!  ESCAPE!  ENJOY! 

SUPPORT YOUR HISTORICAL SOCIETY 

BOOKS BY  

PAUL LAVIOLETTE AVAIL-

ABLE AT THE HANCOCK 

COUNTY HISTORICAL 

$25.00 

$20.00 

$20.00 

$30.00 

$20.00 

$20.00 

 

Steve B. Treutel 

Senior Financial Advisor 

Mississippi Gulf Coast 

(228) 385-6307 

Merrill Lynch Wealth Management makes available products and services offered by Merrill Lynch, 

Pierce, Fenner & Smith incorporated, a registered broker-dealer and member SIPC, and other subsidar-

ies of Bank of America Corporation.  All rights reserved. 

AD-06-12-0048 ARSOT2V1-10-11 Code 453007PM-0612 

 

 

PLACE YOUR AD HERE. 

SIXTH EDITION—(EDITIONS 1-5 SOLD OUT) 

 

 

BUY: 

MOONSHINE:  Secret Nationwide Delivery Map 

AL SAUCIER.COM      VENDORS 

BAY BOOKS: 228-463-2688 

KILN 

 

MANIERI 
REAL 

ESTATE, 
LLC 

CALL:  
SESSIE 

MANIERI 
 

228-216-
2628 

Secluded 1850 Restoration.  Historic charmer on over 3 acres 

in Pearlington, MS.  Finish kitchen, bath, & second level bonus 

for a total of about 1600’ living space.  Wood walls, 10.5’ 

wood ceilings and hardwood floors. 
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